

Delft University of Technology

## Quantifying non-stabilizerness via information scrambling

Ahmadi, Arash; Greplova, Eliska

DOI 10.21468/SciPostPhys.16.2.043

Publication date 2024 **Document Version** Final published version

Published in SciPost Physics

#### Citation (APA)

Ahmadi, A., & Greplova, E. (2024). Quantifying non-stabilizerness via information scrambling. *SciPost Physics*, *16*(2), Article 043. https://doi.org/10.21468/SciPostPhys.16.2.043

#### Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

Takedown policy

Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

# Quantifying non-stabilizerness via information scrambling

Arash Ahmadi\* and Eliska Greplova

Kavli Institute of Nanoscience, Delft University of Technology, Delft, the Netherlands

★ a.ahmadi-1@tudelft.nl

# Abstract

The advent of quantum technologies brought forward much attention to the theoretical characterization of the computational resources they provide. A method to quantify quantum resources is to use a class of functions called magic monotones and stabilizer entropies, which are, however, notoriously hard and impractical to evaluate for large system sizes. In recent studies, a fundamental connection between information scrambling, the magic monotone mana and 2-Renyi stabilizer entropy was established. This connection simplified magic monotone calculation, but this class of methods still suffers from exponential scaling with respect to the number of qubits. In this work, we establish a way to sample an out-of-time-order correlator that approximates magic monotones and 2-Renyi stabilizer entropy. We numerically show the relation of these sampled correlators to different non-stabilizerness measures for both qubit and qutrit systems and provide an analytical relation to 2-Renyi stabilizer entropy. Furthermore, we put forward and simulate a protocol to measure the monotonic behaviour of magic for the time evolution of local Hamiltonians.

😇 🕛 Copyright A. Ahmadi and E. Greplova.	Received 19-06-2023	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted 01-02-2024	
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published 08-02-2024	updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.16.	2.043

# Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Methods	3
	2.1 Magic	3
	2.2 Information scrambling	4
3	Results	5
	3.1 Mana and OTOC	5
	3.2 The Stabilizer Renyi entropy and OTOC	6
	3.3 The magic generated by time evolution of a Hamiltonian	7
4	Conclusion and discussion	8
A	Mana	9
B	Clifford and non-Clifford gates definitions	9
	B.1 Clifford gates	10
	B.2 Non-Clifford gates	10

С	Proof of lemma 1	10
D	Propagation of error	12
Re	ferences	12

# 1 Introduction

The field of quantum computing introduced the concept that quantum systems can deliver a significant computational speed-up in a variety of settings [1-6]. Yet, although increasingly large quantum processors are available, the question remains of how to rigorously quantify the computational resources of a quantum computer. One successful approach towards determining quantum resources of a quantum state is to calculate how "far away" the state is from being possible to simulate efficiently with a classical computer [7].

A specific example of quantum states that are tractable to represent and simulate on a classical computer are the so-called stabilizer states [8]. These states result from quantum circuits produced by Clifford gates which are elements of the Clifford group generated by the Hadamard gate, the phase gate and the entangling control-NOT gate [9]. In order to get any quantum advantage over classical computers, we need to add additional gates outside of the Clifford group. By injecting more non-Clifford gates into a quantum circuit, we obtain a quantum state with further distance from a stabilizer state. This distance is in literature referred to as magic or non-stabilizerness [10]. The states that are not stabilizer states are called *magic states*. Interestingly, the Clifford operations could be easier both at the experimental level and for quantum error correction [11-13], while universal gate-sets are achieved by the distillation of a large number of noisy magic states into a less-noisy magic state which subsequently provides the computational resources for the fault-tolerant quantum computation [7, 14-17]

Examples of magic monotones include magical cross-entropy, mana [10], and robustness of magic [15]. These measures are, however, computationally expensive to evaluate and their calculation requires exact knowledge of the wave-function combined with complex optimization [10], which excludes the study of large quantum circuits. More recently introduced magic monotonotes such as the Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill magic measure and the stablizer Renyi entropy, [18,19], offer simplified scaling which enables exact calculation of magic for a few qubits using conventional computers.

Different approaches to describe how far a quantum state is from the stabilizer states, can also be related to the amount of quantum correlations in the system. The out-of-time ordered correlators (OTOCs) quantify quantum information scrambling [20–25]. Quantum



Figure 1: The schematic structure of a t-doped quantum circuit. We are using a block of the random Clifford gates,  $U_C$  followed by a T-gate on a random qudit. We repeat this process  $N_T$  times.

information scrambling describes the spread of the local information in a quantum system [24]. Through the time evolution of a closed quantum system, the information about initial state of the system can become very hard to access due to quantum correlations in the system [26]. Even though the information is still encoded in the system it is not directly accessible without measuring all its degrees of freedom. Information scrambling has recently attracted an increasing amount of attention due to the relation with the anti-de Sitter/conformal field theory (AdS/CFT) correspondence [27]. The AdS/CFT correspondence draws a duality that relates the noise in quantum error correction codes to information scrambling in black holes [20, 22, 23]. Another application of this concept emerged in condensed matter physics such as many-body localization [28] and non-Fermi liquid behaviours [29].

Moreover, it was recently experimentally demonstrated that OTOCs can be used as an indicator of the degree of non-stabilizerness of scrambled quantum circuits [30]. In parallel, recent work has shown an analytical relation between the non-stabilizerness and OTOC [19, 31].

In this work, we show the relation between a randomised sampling of OTOC fluctuations and mana for qutrit systems and stabilizer Renyi entropy for qubit systems. We show numerical evidence that this method requires dramatically lesser number of OTOC measurements in comparison to the exact methods of calculating magic monotones. Capitalizing on this relation, we put forward an experimentally feasible way to approximate magic using the evaluation of OTOCs. Our work might lay the foundation to approximate magic in a scalable way in larger systems, as our protocol is designed to be adaptable for both numerical techniques such as tensor networks [32] and neural networks [33] as well as experimental measurements [30].

# 2 Methods

#### 2.1 Magic

The concept of magic in quantum information science arises from the field of resource theory [34]. The Gottesman-Knill theorem [8] guarantees that the subset of the physical states known as *stabilizer* states are efficiently simulatable on a classical computer. More precisely, the stabilizer states are the second level of the Clifford hierarchy [9].

Since the first level (the Pauli gates) and the second level, (the Clifford gates) of the Clifford hierarchy are insufficient for universal quantum computing, we need to use the third-level gates. This level of Clifford's hierarchy includes, for example, a T-gate. Another set of important non-Clifford gates are the rotation gates  $\{R_x(\theta), R_y(\theta), R_z(\theta)\}$ , where  $\theta$  is the angle of rotation. These gates are particularly important in problems that require a continuous set of parameters to tune, i.e. quantum machine learning algorithms [5, 6].

The amount of non-stabilizerness, or magic, of any state is measured using *magic monotones*. Magic monotones such as the robustness of magic [10] are based on an optimization over all stabilizer states, which make them practically hard to compute. However, one example of a magic monotone that does not require any optimization is known as mana,  $\mathcal{M}$  [10]. This magic monotone has another limitation, namely that it is only definable for odd-prime dimensional Hilbert spaces. Additionally, mana is practically very hard to calculate since it is based on calculating discrete Wigner functions which in practice limits current calculations to at most 6 qudits. More details regarding the definition and evaluation of mana are available in Appendix A.



Figure 2: The fluctuation of OTOC,  $\overline{1-\delta_{OTOC}}$  as a function of the mean value of mana,  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$ . We see a linear behaviour between these two magic monotones for 6 qutrit t-doped circuits. Here we show results for 50 (green dots) random samples of OTOC on the y-axis. On the x-axis, we calculated mana for 10 of the samples and we fit a linear dependence (dashed line). The vertical error bar is the statistical error calculated by repeating the process above 10 more times to get the error by the standard deviation of the sampled  $\delta_{OTOC}$  instances and the horizontal error bar corresponds to the standard deviation of mana.

Another method introduced to measure magic for qubits is the Stabilizer Renyi Entropy [19]. For a system of N qubits, the Stabilizer Renyi Entropy of order n is defined as

$$M_n(|\Psi_N\rangle) = (1-n)^{-1} \log \sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}_N} \frac{\langle \Psi_N | P | \Psi_N \rangle^{2n}}{2^N},$$
(1)

where  $\mathcal{P}_N$  is the set of all *N*-qubit Pauli strings and the number of the Pauli strings in  $\mathcal{P}_N$  we are summing over scales as  $4^N$ .

#### 2.2 Information scrambling

A well-known measure of information scrambling is the out-of-time-order correlators (OTOCs) which are commonly used in high-energy physics and condensed matter physics [20–25, 28, 29]. OTOC is evaluated for any two operators *A* and *B*, where [A, B] = 0, as

$$OTOC(t) = \operatorname{Re}(\langle A^{\dagger}(t)B^{\dagger}A(t)B \rangle), \qquad (2)$$

where

$$A(t) = U^{\dagger}(t)A(0)U(t), \qquad (3)$$

or equivalently

$$OTOC(U) = \frac{1}{d} tr(U^{\dagger}A(0)UBU^{\dagger}A(0)UB), \qquad (4)$$

and U(t) is the time evolution operator, which could either result from the time evolution of a Hamiltonian or from a quantum circuit. Here we will consider a N qudit system,  $A(0) = X_{N-1}$ and  $B = Z_1$  where  $X_i$  and  $Z_i$  are the conventional Pauli operators and the subscript indicates the *i*-th qudit. As long as the commutation relation above holds, these Pauli operators can be placed on arbitrary qubit pairs. In this case, A(0) plays the role of the butterfly operator related to chaotic quantum systems. The reason for using the butterfly operator is that by including a small perturbation (in this case a bit flip) we are disturbing the reversibility of the



Figure 3: The log of fluctuation of OTOC,  $-Log_2 \overline{\delta_{OTOC}}$  over 50 (blue dots) samples as a function of the mean value of stabilizer Renyi entropy (dashed line),  $\overline{M_2}$  over 10 samples. The vertical error bar is the statistical error calculated by repeating the process above 10 more times to get the error by the standard deviation of the sampled  $\delta_{OTOC}$  instances, and the horizontal error bar corresponds to the standard deviation of the stabilizer Renyi entropy  $M_2$ .

system, which is a signature of chaos [35]. The information scrambling measured through OTOC describes how information spreads in the system and becomes inaccessible in later times [20–25]. Information scrambling also describes how local Heisenberg operators grow in time [30, 36, 37]. A way to assess how the OTOC value fluctuates over a set of random circuits is the OTOC fluctuation,  $\delta_{OTOC}$ , defined as the standard deviation of OTOC over all measured instances of OTOC. Let  $U = C_1 V C_2$ , where V is a generic unitary operator. Defining the average over  $C_1, C_2$  as

$$\mathbb{E}_{C} OTOC(U) := \int dC_1 dC_2 OTOC(U), \qquad (5)$$

and define the fluctuations around the average

$$\delta_{\text{OTOC}}(U) := \mathbb{E}_C \text{OTOC}^2(U) - [\mathbb{E}_C \text{OTOC}(U)]^2.$$
(6)

### 3 Results

We will now numerically investigate the relation between the fluctuations of OTOC, which was experimentally observed in Ref. [30] to decrease with the growing non-stabilizerness of the quantum circuit, and the measure for magic, mana,  $\mathcal{M}$  for q = 3 and the stabilizer Renyi entropy,  $M_2$  for q = 2 where q is the dimension of the local Hilbert space. To this end, we design random quantum circuits with Clifford and non-Clifford gates, known as t-doped quantum circuits.

#### 3.1 Mana and OTOC

First, we consider *N* qudits in *q*-dimensional Hilbert space where q = 3. The circuits consist of *M* cycles of Clifford gates. In each cycle, we first apply one single Clifford gate, randomly chosen from the set  $S = \{H, S, X, Y, Z, I\}$  on each qudit. Then we add two CSUM gates on two randomly chosen qudits, where the CSUM gate is the counterpart of CNOT in Hilbert spaces with q > 2. Here we have a fixed number of M = 10 random cycles for each block of

random Cliffords. Finally, we add a single non-Clifford gate, T, on a randomly chosen qudit. We increase the magic in the circuit by increasing the number of layers of the random Cliffords followed by a T-gate.

We begin by analyzing the relationship of mana and OTOC in the Hilbert space of dimension q = 3 for circuits containing four qutrits such that mana is well-defined and computationally tractable. We use the qutrit Clifford gates introduced in [38]. We provide detailed definitions of all gates in Appendix B.

We observe an increasing monotonous relation between the mean value of mana,  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$  and the OTOC fluctuations,  $1-\delta_{OTOC}$ , see Fig. 2. In Fig. 2, we observe a linear dependence between  $\overline{1-\delta_{OTOC}}$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$ . This relationship corresponds to the linear fit  $\overline{1-\delta_{OTOC}} \approx 0.22\overline{\mathcal{M}} + 0.26$ . We simulated the OTOC instances of 50 circuit runs and the number of T-gates in the circuit is  $N_T \in [0, 20]$ . For the simulation of the quantum circuits, we have used the Cirq package [39].

#### 3.2 The Stabilizer Renyi entropy and OTOC

Mana, discussed in the previous section, is not only challenging from the scaling point of view but also only defined for odd-dimensional local Hilbert space; because it is related to the negativity of discrete Wigner functions, and thus not possible to evaluate for qubits [40, 41]. In this section, we investigate the relation of 4-OTOC fluctuations,  $\delta_{OTOC}$ , with the stabilizer Renyi entropy,  $M_2$ , which is well-defined for even-dimensional Hilbert spaces. To evaluate the stabilizer Renyi entropy we use Eq. (1) for q = 2 and n = 2. The authors of Ref. [19] have shown the relation of the stabilizer Renyi entropy with 8-OTOC. The main difference between our approach with the existing analytical formula in Ref. [19] is the random sampling of a constant number of OTOCs as opposed to the exponential scaling of the number of 8-OTOC terms in the Renyi entropy formula [19].

We use the same random circuits as described in the previous subsection (see Fig. 1), this time for qubits. This way we obtain a comparison between  $\delta_{OTOC}$  and the exact stabilizer Renyi entropy. In Fig. 3, we show OTOC fluctuations as a function of mean Renyi entropy,  $\overline{M_2}$  and find a dependence corresponding to the fit  $\overline{M_2} \approx -1.38 \log_2 \overline{\delta_{OTOC}} + 0.51$ . We repeat the process 10 times to average over different  $\delta_{OTOC}$  to obtain statistical error bars. The circuit used for Fig. 3 is a 12 qubit t-doped Clifford and we calculate  $\overline{M_2}$  from 10 random instances. Each point in Fig. 3 belongs to a certain number of T-gates in the circuit,  $N_T \in [0, 26]$ . We note that the range of  $N_T$  was motivated by the fact that it has been shown that we need more than or equal to 2N T-gates to saturate the magic [42]. We see that regardless of the number of T-gates (and hence the amount of magic in the circuit), our ability to approximate the stabilizer Renyi entropy using OTOC fluctuations remains similar.

For the explanation of the relation observed in Fig. 3, we formulate the following lemma: **Lemma 1.** Let  $M_2(|V\rangle)$  be the stabilizer entropy of the Choi state [43], $|V\rangle \equiv \mathbb{I} \otimes V |I\rangle$ where  $|I\rangle \equiv 2^{-N/2} \sum_{i=1}^{2^N} |i\rangle \otimes |i\rangle$ , associated to the unitary *V* and  $d = 2^N$ , then

$$\mathbb{E}_{C}\delta_{\text{OTOC}}(U) = \left(\frac{d^{2}}{d^{2}-1}\right)^{2} 2^{-M_{2}(|V|)} - \frac{2d^{2}}{(d^{2}-1)^{2}}.$$
(7)

*Proof.* See Appendix C.

From the Lemma 1 and the numerical results in Fig 3, we can conclude that sampling OTOC fluctuations could lead to more efficiency in measuring  $M_2(|V\rangle)$ .

For the case of random t-doped Clifford circuits, it generally holds that

$$\mathbb{E}_{C_t} 2^{-M_2(|C_t\rangle)} = \mathbb{E}_{C_t} 2^{-M_2(C_t|0\rangle)} + O(d^{-1}).$$
(8)

Therefore, in the case of a t-doped Clifford circuit, there is no distinction between the stabilizer entropy of  $V |0\rangle$  and  $|V\rangle$  for sufficiently large *d*.



Figure 4: (a) The schematic structure of measuring magic of a time evolution of the Hamiltonian,  $\mathcal{U}_{\mathcal{H}}$ . The protocol consists of two random Clifford blocks, before and after the desired time evolution block. (b) The comparison of OTOC fluctuations (blue dots) with the exact stabilizer Renyi entropy density (dashed line). The simulation is done for 10 qubits for the Choi state of a chain of length 5.

It is worth noting that the relation of 4-OTOC fluctuations with the averaged 8-OTOC has been studied in Ref. [44]. In contrast, here we describe the relationship to 2-Renyi entropy.

#### 3.3 The magic generated by time evolution of a Hamiltonian

In this section, we propose a protocol to measure the magic generated by time evolution under the general Hamiltonian. The time evolution unitary operator of a general time-independent Hamiltonian is a fixed operator. Since, in our method, scrambling is an essential feature, in order to have such a low number of samples we need to create diversity in measured instances of OTOC by introducing additional randomisation in the circuit. We achieve this goal by including two extra blocks of random Clifford circuits, one before the time evolution and one after, see Fig. 4a. Since Clifford gates do not produce any magic by definition, we do not lose any generality for the circuit's magic calculation, but importantly we enhance the scrambling. It is important to keep in mind that the depth of the random Clifford circuit needs to be sufficient to fully scramble the state.

Here, as an example, we consider the Hamiltonian of the transverse-field Ising Hamiltonian,

$$H = -J \sum_{i} Z_{i} Z_{i+1} - h \sum_{i} X_{i} .$$
(9)

The system is in the open boundary condition and  $Z_i$  and  $X_i$  are the Pauli matrices on the *i*-it qubit. For this simulation, we fix J = 1 and h = 0.5. The schematic structure of the circuit we consider for its time evolution is shown in Fig. 4(a).

We are considering a chain of N = 5 for the Hamiltonian of Eq.9 and the Choi isomorphism,  $|V\rangle \equiv \mathbb{I} \otimes V |I\rangle$  where  $V = \mathcal{U}_{\mathcal{C}}\mathcal{U}_{\mathcal{H}}\mathcal{U}_{\mathcal{C}}$  and  $|I\rangle \equiv 2^{-N/2} \sum_{i=1}^{2^{N}} |i\rangle \otimes |i\rangle$ . From Fig.4(b) we can see that  $M_2$  for the local Hamiltonian of the Eq.9 and OTOC fluctuations show similar behaviour, although the prediction accuracy is lower than for the random t-doped circuits. In this simulation, we used 5 qubits with 50 instances of sampled OTOCs. The time evolves for a total time of 3/J. We see the same trend of increase in magic in the early time and oscillatory behaviour and stabilization in both stabilizer Renyi entropy and approximated OTOC fluctuations. We used the Qiskit package [45] for this simulation.

## 4 Conclusion and discussion

We have shown aspects of the relation between mana and random sampling of OTOC fluctuations for t-doped circuits which were previously unexplored. In addition to that, we provided numerical evidence that OTOC fluctuation sampling in the scrambled circuits is useful for measuring magic. We were able to mirror behavior for stabilizer Renyi entropy and for mana with significantly lower number measurements. Since the structure of the random circuits is challenging to scale for *N* qubits, the scalability of this method remains inconclusive, but for up-to 12 qubits we obtained remarkably precise magic estimate with constant number of samples. We also observed that the relation of  $\delta_{OTOC}$  and magic is not universal, it showed  $\log_2$ behaviour for 2-Renyi entropy and linear behaviour for mana.

Ref. [31] puts forward a statement that the fluctuations of OTOC are always smaller or equal to a specific type of magic monotone. In this work, we complement this statement by numerically showing the relation of OTOC fluctuations to the stabilizer Renyi entropy. We analyzed the accuracy of stabilizer Renyi entropy approximation as a function of the number of samples drawn from scrambled random circuits. While the majority of our simulated data points fulfil the inequality derived in Ref. [31], it is not always the case. This observation is an interesting starting point for further investigation. Also, the analytical relations here could be the starting point for the investigation of the relation between the stabilizer Renyi entropy and the introduced magic measure in Ref. [31].

Additionally, we also extended the method of sampling scrambling random circuits to approximate magic to Hamiltonian evolution and numerically calculated magic for the time evolution governed by an Ising Hamiltonian in a transverse field with very good results in comparison with stabilizer Renyi entropy of the Choi state of the time evolved state of the Hamiltonian. Interestingly the reached agreement is lesser than that of t-doped circuits, but our method still captures general trends of magic behavior during Hamiltonian evolution.

Interesting research direction going forward is to combine our sampling approach with experiment [30] or approximate numerical methods such as tensor networks [32, 46] and neural networks [33]. Our method can be used alongside or as a complement to other existing approximation methods [47–52]. Specifically, the algorithm introduced in [48] is an efficient method for measuring Tsallis stabilizer entropy which has a direct relation to stabilizer Renyi entropy. In Ref. [53] lower number of samples comes with doubling the dimension of the Hilbert space. The fact the analytical relationship in Eq. (7) between  $\delta_{OTOC}$  and Stabilizer Renyi entropy involves Choi state of a unitary operator might hint at a possible link between these approaches.

All code required to reproduce results presented in this manuscript is available at [54].

### Acknowledgments

We thank Lorenzo Leone for extremely productive peer review process, insightful discussions and the proof of Lemma 1.

### A Mana

One of the magic monotones is known as *mana*. The restriction of mana is that it is only welldefined for odd prime-dimensional Hilbert spaces. Here, we introduce it for q-dim Hilbert spaces [10] with q an odd prime number. To show how to calculate mana, we first need to define the clock and shift operators corresponding to the q-dimensional Pauli *Z* gate and Pauli *X* gate [38],

$$Z = \sum_{n=0}^{q-1} \omega^n |n\rangle \langle n| , \qquad X = \sum_{n=0}^{q-1} |n+1 \mod q\rangle \langle n| , \qquad (A.1)$$

with  $\omega = e^{2\pi i/q}$ . The other necessary definition is the Heisenberg-Weyl operators in prime dimensions,

$$T_{aa'} = \omega^{-2^{-1}aa'} Z^a X^{a'}, \qquad (A.2)$$

where  $2^{-1} = \frac{q+1}{2}$  (the multiplicative inverse of 2 mod q) and  $(a, a') \in \mathbb{Z}_q \times \mathbb{Z}_q$ . By following this definition, we can define Pauli strings as

$$T_{\mathbf{a}} = T_{a_1 a_1'} \otimes T_{a_2 a_2'} \dots \otimes T_{a_N a_N'} \,. \tag{A.3}$$

Now, we can define a new basis set for the Hilbert space, known as phase space point operators,

$$A_{b} = q^{-N} T_{b} \left[ \sum_{a} T_{a} \right] T_{b}^{\dagger}, \qquad (A.4)$$

and these phase space point operators form a complete basis set for  $\mathbb{C}^{q^N \otimes q^N}$ . Thus, we can expand any density matrix  $\rho$  in this basis,

$$\rho = \sum_{\mathbf{u}} W_{\rho}(\mathbf{u}) A_{u} \,. \tag{A.5}$$

The coefficients  $W_{\rho}(\mathbf{u})$  are called discrete Wigner functions and we can define mana as

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \log \sum_{\mathbf{u}} |W_{\rho}(\mathbf{u})|.$$
(A.6)

As we already stated in the main text, we are dealing with Clifford and non-Clifford operations. The Clifford gates map Pauli strings to other Pauli strings, up to an arbitrary phase [55],

$$C = \left\{ U : UT_a U^{\dagger} = e^{i\phi} T_b \right\}.$$
(A.7)

Since the Clifford gates map each of these Pauli strings to each other, each Clifford unitaries also map the computational basis to one of the eigenstates of Pauli strings. These eigenstates are called stabilizer states. Since stabilizer states are prepared with only Clifford gates, their mana is *zero*.

### **B** Clifford and non-Clifford gates definitions

In this appendix, we are introducing the gates that we have used in this study. We introduce both 2-dimensional Hilbert spaces and higher-dimensional Hilbert spaces.

#### **B.1** Clifford gates

The set of Clifford gates is the second level of Clifford hierarchy [9] that are the following gates in 2-dimensional Hilbert spaces,

$$H_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad P_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & i \end{bmatrix},$$
  
CNOT =  $|0\rangle \langle 0| \otimes I + |1\rangle \langle 1| \otimes X.$  (B.1)

The generalization of these gates is straightforward [56]. The d-dimensional Hadamard gate,  $H_d$ , is

$$H_d |j\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}} \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} \omega^{ij} |i\rangle , \quad j \in \{0, 1, 2, ..., d-1\},$$
(B.2)

where  $\omega := e^{2\pi i/d}$ . The next gate is the d-dimensional Phase gate,  $P_d$ ,

$$P_d \left| j \right\rangle = \omega^{j(j-1)/2} \left| j \right\rangle \,, \tag{B.3}$$

and, finally, the generalized CNOT gate that is known as  $CSUM_d$  gate and defined as

$$CSUM_d | i, j \rangle = | i, i + j \pmod{d} \rangle, \quad i, j \in \{0, 1, 2, ..., d - 1\}.$$
 (B.4)

#### **B.2** Non-Clifford gates

Clifford gates are not sufficient for universal quantum computation and we at least need one non-Clifford gate to have this universality [57,58]. One of these gates is the T-gate that emerges from the third level Clifford hierarchy. The definition of T-gate for 2-dimensional Hilbert space is

$$T_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & e^{i\pi/4} \end{bmatrix}. \tag{B.5}$$

The generalization of T-gate to higher dimensional Hilbert spaces is not so straightforward [38]. Here, we only write down the matrices of the T-gate for 3-dimensional Hilbert spaces which are useful for us. The 3-dimensional Hilbert space T-gate is

$$T_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & e^{2\pi i/9} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & e^{-2\pi i/9} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (B.6)

### C Proof of lemma 1

In order to show lemma 1, we need to have a close look at the first term in  $\delta_{\text{OTOC}}$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}_{C} \text{OTOC}^{2}(U) = \int dC_{1} dC_{2} \frac{1}{d^{2}} \operatorname{tr} \left( T_{(12)(34)} V^{\dagger \otimes 4} C_{1}^{\dagger \otimes 4} A^{\otimes 4} C_{1}^{\otimes 4} V^{\otimes 4} C_{2}^{\otimes 4} B^{\otimes 4} C_{2}^{\dagger \otimes 4} \right).$$
(C.1)

By averaging over  $C_1$  we will have

$$\int dC_1 C_1^{\dagger \otimes 4} A^{\otimes 4} C_1^{\otimes 4} = \frac{1}{d^2 - 1} \sum_{P \in \mathbb{P}_n \setminus \{\mathbb{I}\}} P^{\otimes 4}.$$
(C.2)

### Sci Post

By averaging over Clifford circuits we will get a flat distribution over the Pauli group  $\mathbb{P}_n$  but the identity. By defining  $Q := d^{-2} \sum_{P \in \mathbb{P}_n} P^{\otimes 4}$ , the Eq. C.2 becomes

$$\int dC_1 C_1^{\dagger \otimes 4} A^{\otimes 4} C_1^{\otimes 4} = \frac{d^2}{d^2 - 1} Q - \frac{1}{d^2 - 1} \mathbb{I}^{\otimes 4},$$
(C.3)

we get similar results for averaging over  $C_2$  on the non-identity Pauli operator *B*. So Eq. C.1 would become

$$\mathbb{E}_{C} OTOC^{2}(U) = \frac{1}{d^{2}} \left( \frac{d^{2}}{d^{2} - 1} \right)^{2} tr \left( QV^{\otimes 4} QV^{\dagger \otimes 4} \right) - \frac{2d^{2} - 1}{(d^{2} - 1)^{2}}, \qquad (C.4)$$

where we used the fact that  $tr(OQT_{(12)(34)}) = tr(OQ)$  for every O [42]. From Ref. [25] we know that the average  $\mathbb{E}_C OTOC(U) = -(d^2 - 1)^{-1}$ . We know that from Ref. [59] the second stabilizer Renyi entropy of the Choi state of the unitary *V* is

$$M_2(|V\rangle) = -\log\frac{1}{d^2}\operatorname{tr}(QV^{\otimes 4}QV^{\dagger \otimes 4}).$$
(C.5)

So the final equation would be

$$\mathbb{E}_{C}\delta_{\text{OTOC}}(U) = \left(\frac{d^{2}}{d^{2}-1}\right)^{2} 2^{-M_{2}(|V\rangle)} - \frac{2d^{2}}{(d^{2}-1)^{2}}.$$
(C.6)

We see that from Eq. 7 the second stabilizer Renyi entropy is related to the Choi state  $|V\rangle$  associated with the unitary V and not the second stabilizer Renyi entropy of the state  $V |0\rangle$ . Fortunately, in the case of V being a random t-doped circuit,  $C_t$ , from Ref. [59] we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{C_{t}}\delta_{\text{OTOC}}(C_{t}) = \frac{d^{4}}{(d^{2}-1)^{2}} \left[ \frac{4(6-9d^{2}+d^{4})}{d^{4}(d^{2}-9)} + \frac{d^{2}-1}{d^{2}} \left( \frac{(d+2)(d+4)f_{+}^{t}}{6d(d+3)} + \frac{(d-2)(d-4)f_{-}^{t}}{6d(d-3)} + 2\frac{(d^{2}-4)\left(\frac{f_{+}+f_{-}}{2}\right)^{t}}{3d^{2}} \right) \right] - 2\frac{d^{2}}{(d^{2}-1)^{2}}, \tag{C.7}$$

where

as

$$f_{\pm} = \frac{3d^2 \mp 3d - 4}{5(d^2 - 1)},\tag{C.8}$$

for d being large we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{C_t} \delta_{\text{OTOC}}(C_t) = \left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^t + O(d^{-2}).$$
(C.9)

In Ref. [19], the average value of 2-stabilizer entropy over a t-doped Clifford circuit is given

$$-\log\left(\frac{4+(d-1)f_{+}^{t}}{3+d}\right) \le \mathbb{E}_{C_{t}}M_{2}(C_{t}|0\rangle) \le \begin{cases} t, & t < N-1, \\ N-1. \end{cases}$$
(C.10)

From Eq. C.7 and Eq. C.10, it is straightforward to show that for a random t-doped Clifford circuit,

$$\mathbb{E}_{C_t} 2^{-M_2(|C_t\rangle)} = \mathbb{E}_{C_t} 2^{-M_2(C_t|0\rangle)} + O(d^{-1}).$$
(C.11)

## **D** Propagation of error

Let us analyze how errors propagate in Eq.7. We can write the error in  $M_2$  in terms of  $\delta_{OTOC}$  as

$$\Delta M_2 = \frac{\partial M_2}{\partial \delta_{OTOC}} \Delta(\delta_{OTOC}). \tag{D.1}$$

At the same time, we can rewrite Eq.7 as

$$M_2 = -\log_2 \frac{\mathbb{E}\delta_{OTOC} + \beta}{\alpha} \,. \tag{D.2}$$

This formula allows us to evaluate the derivative on the right-hand side of (D.1) as

$$\frac{\partial M_2}{\partial \delta_{OTOC}} = -\frac{1}{(\mathbb{E}\delta_{OTOC} + \beta)\ln 2}.$$
 (D.3)

Combining (D.1) and (D.3) we obtain

$$\Delta M_2 = -\frac{1}{(\mathbb{E}\delta_{OTOC} + \beta)\ln 2} \Delta(\delta_{OTOC}).$$
(D.4)

Error in  $M_2$  is thus proportional to the error in  $\delta_{OTOC}$  with an inverse factor of the expectation value of  $\delta_{OTOC}$ .

### References

- [1] P. W. Shor, *Polynomial-time algorithms for prime factorization and discrete logarithms on a quantum computer*, SIAM Rev. **41**, 303 (1999), doi:10.1137/S0036144598347011.
- [2] L. K. Grover, A fast quantum mechanical algorithm for database search, in Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual ACM symposium on theory of computing, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, USA, ISBN 9780897917858 (1996), doi:10.1145/237814.237866.
- [3] S. Aaronson and A. Arkhipov, *The computational complexity of linear optics*, Theory Comput. 9, 143 (2013), doi:10.4086/toc.2013.v009a004.
- Y. Cao et al., Quantum chemistry in the age of quantum computing, Chem. Rev. 119, 10856 (2019), doi:10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00803.
- [5] A. Kandala, A. Mezzacapo, K. Temme, M. Takita, M. Brink, J. M. Chow and J. M. Gambetta, *Hardware-efficient variational quantum eigensolver for small molecules and quantum magnets*, Nature 549, 242 (2017), doi:10.1038/nature23879.
- [6] E. Farhi, J. Goldstone and S. Gutmann, *A quantum approximate optimization algorithm*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1411.4028.
- [7] S. Bravyi and A. Kitaev, Universal quantum computation with ideal clifford gates and noisy ancillas, Phys. Rev. A 71, 022316 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.71.022316.
- [8] D. Gottesman, *The Heisenberg representation of quantum computers*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.quant-ph/9807006.

- [9] D. Gottesman and I. L. Chuang, *Demonstrating the viability of universal quantum computation using teleportation and single-qubit operations*, Nature **402**, 390 (1999), doi:10.1038/46503.
- [10] V. Veitch, S. A. H. Mousavian, D. Gottesman and J. Emerson, *The resource theory of stabilizer quantum computation*, New J. Phys. 16, 013009 (2014), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/16/1/013009.
- [11] D. Gottesman, Theory of fault-tolerant quantum computation, Phys. Rev. A 57, 127 (1998), doi:10.1103/physreva.57.127.
- [12] P. W. Shor, Fault-tolerant quantum computation, in Proceedings of 37th conference on foundations of computer science, Burlington, USA (1996), doi:10.1109/SFCS.1996.548464.
- [13] D. Gottesman, *Stabilizer codes and quantum error correction*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.quant-ph/9705052.
- [14] M. Beverland, E. Campbell, M. Howard and V. Kliuchnikov, Lower bounds on the nonclifford resources for quantum computations, Quantum Sci. Technol. 5, 035009 (2020), doi:10.1088/2058-9565/ab8963.
- [15] M. Howard and E. Campbell, Application of a resource theory for magic states to fault-tolerant quantum computing, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118, 090501 (2017), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.118.090501.
- [16] E. T. Campbell and J. O'Gorman, An efficient magic state approach to small angle rotations, Quantum Sci. Technol. 1, 015007 (2016), doi:10.1088/2058-9565/1/1/015007.
- [17] E. T. Campbell, Catalysis and activation of magic states in fault-tolerant architectures, Phys. Rev. A 83, 032317 (2011), doi:10.1103/physreva.83.032317.
- [18] O. Hahn, A. Ferraro, L. Hultquist, G. Ferrini and L. García-Álvarez, Quantifying qubit magic resource with Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill encoding, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, 210502 (2022), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.128.210502.
- [19] L. Leone, S. F. E. Oliviero and A. Hamma, *Stabilizer Rényi entropy*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **128**, 050402 (2022), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.128.050402.
- [20] P. Hayden and J. Preskill, Black holes as mirrors: Quantum information in random subsystems, J. High Energy Phys. 09, 120 (2007), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2007/09/120.
- [21] Y. Sekino and L. Susskind, Fast scramblers, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 065 (2008), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/10/065.
- [22] S. H. Shenker and D. Stanford, *Black holes and the butterfly effect*, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 067 (2014), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2014)067.
- [23] J. Maldacena, S. H. Shenker and D. Stanford, *A bound on chaos*, J. High Energy Phys. 08, 106 (2016), doi:10.1007/jhep08(2016)106.
- [24] P. Hosur, X.-L. Qi, D. A. Roberts and B. Yoshida, *Chaos in quantum channels*, J. High Energy Phys. 02, 004 (2016), doi:10.1007/jhep02(2016)004.
- [25] D. A. Roberts and B. Yoshida, *Chaos and complexity by design*, J. High Energy Phys. 04, 121 (2017), doi:10.1007/jhep04(2017)121.

- [26] Y. Zhang, *Information scrambling in quantum many-body systems*, PhD thesis, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, USA (2020), doi:10.7907/GDZ1-0G66.
- [27] A. Almheiri, X. Dong and D. Harlow, Bulk locality and quantum error correction in AdS/CFT, J. High Energy Phys. 04, 163 (2015), doi:10.1007/jhep04(2015)163.
- [28] D. M. Basko, I. L. Aleiner and B. L. Altshuler, Metal-insulator transition in a weakly interacting many-electron system with localized single-particle states, Ann. Phys. 321, 1126 (2006), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2005.11.014.
- [29] D. Ben-Zion and J. McGreevy, Strange metal from local quantum chaos, Phys. Rev. B 97, 155117 (2018), doi:10.1103/physrevb.97.155117.
- [30] X. Mi et al., *Information scrambling in quantum circuits*, Science **374**, 1479 (2021), doi:10.1126/science.abg5029.
- [31] R. J. Garcia, K. Bu and A. Jaffe, *Resource theory of quantum scrambling*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. **120**, e2217031120 (2023), doi:10.1073/pnas.2217031120.
- [32] S. Xu and B. Swingle, Scrambling dynamics and out-of-time ordered correlators in quantum many-body systems: A tutorial, PRX Quantum 5, 010201 (2024), doi:10.1103/PRXQuantum.5.010201.
- [33] Y. Wu, L.-M. Duan and D.-L. Deng, Artificial neural network based computation for out-of-time-ordered correlators, Phys. Rev. B 101, 214308 (2020), doi:10.1103/physrevb.101.214308.
- [34] E. Chitambar and G. Gour, *Quantum resource theories*, Rev. Mod. Phys. **91**, 025001 (2019), doi:10.1103/revmodphys.91.025001.
- [35] X. Chen, R. M. Nandkishore and A. Lucas, *Quantum butterfly effect in polarized Floquet systems*, Phys. Rev. B **101**, 064307 (2020), doi:10.1103/physrevb.101.064307.
- [36] X.-L. Qi and A. Streicher, *Quantum epidemiology: Operator growth, thermal effects, and SYK*, J. High Energy Phys. **08**, 012 (2019), doi:10.1007/jhep08(2019)012.
- [37] D. E. Parker, X. Cao, A. Avdoshkin, T. Scaffidi and E. Altman, A universal operator growth hypothesis, Phys. Rev. X 9, 041017 (2019), doi:10.1103/physrevx.9.041017.
- [38] Y. Wang, Z. Hu, B. C. Sanders and S. Kais, Qudits and high-dimensional quantum computing, Front. Phys. 8 (2020), doi:10.3389/fphy.2020.589504.
- [39] Cirq developers, *Cirq*, Zenodo (2021), doi:10.5281/zenodo.5182845.
- [40] A. Mari and J. Eisert, Positive Wigner functions render classical simulation of quantum computation efficient, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 230503 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.109.230503.
- [41] D. Schmid, H. Du, J. H. Selby and M. F. Pusey, Uniqueness of noncontextual models for stabilizer subtheories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 120403 (2022), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.129.120403.
- [42] L. Leone, S. F. E. Oliviero, Y. Zhou and A. Hamma, *Quantum chaos is quantum*, Quantum 5, 453 (2021), doi:10.22331/q-2021-05-04-453.
- [43] M.-D. Choi, Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices, Linear Algebra Appl. 10, 285 (1975), doi:10.1016/0024-3795(75)90075-0.

- [44] L. Leone, S. F. E. Oliviero, S. Piemontese, S. True and A. Hamma, *Retrieving information from a black hole using quantum machine learning*, Phys. Rev. A **106**, 062434 (2022), doi:10.1103/physreva.106.062434.
- [45] G. Aleksandrowicz et al., Qiskit: An open-source framework for quantum computing, Zenodo (2021), doi:10.5281/zenodo.2562111.
- [46] T. Haug and L. Piroli, Quantifying nonstabilizerness of matrix product states, Phys. Rev. B 107, 035148 (2023), doi:10.1103/physrevb.107.035148.
- [47] T. Haug and M. S. Kim, *Scalable measures of magic resource for quantum computers*, PRX Quantum 4, 010301 (2023), doi:10.1103/prxquantum.4.010301.
- [48] T. Haug, S. Lee and M. S. Kim, *Efficient stabilizer entropies for quantum computers*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2305.19152.
- [49] P. S. Tarabunga, E. Tirrito, T. Chanda and M. Dalmonte, Many-body magic via Pauli-Markov chains — From criticality to gauge theories, PRX Quantum 4, 040317 (2023), doi:10.1103/PRXQuantum.4.040317.
- [50] E. Tirrito, P. S. Tarabunga, G. Lami, T. Chanda, L. Leone, S. F. E. Oliviero, M. Dalmonte, M. Collura and A. Hamma, *Quantifying non-stabilizerness through entanglement spectrum flatness*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2304.01175.
- [51] X. Turkeshi, M. Schirò and P. Sierant, *Measuring nonstabilizerness via multifractal flatness*, Phys. Rev. A **108**, 042408 (2023), doi:10.1103/physreva.108.042408.
- [52] G. Lami and M. Collura, Nonstabilizerness via perfect Pauli sampling of matrix product states, Phys. Rev. Lett. 131, 180401 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.131.180401.
- [53] J. Odavić, T. Haug, G. Torre, A. Hamma, F. Franchini and S. M. Giampaolo, *Complexity of frustration: A new source of non-local non-stabilizerness*, SciPost Phys. **15**, 131 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.15.4.131.
- [54] A. Ahmadi and E. Greplova, *Magic info scrambling*, GitLab, https://gitlab.com/QMAI/ papers/magicinfoscrambling.
- [55] C. D. White, C. Cao and B. Swingle, *Conformal field theories are magical*, Phys. Rev. B 103, 075145 (2021), doi:10.1103/physrevb.103.075145.
- [56] D. Gottesman, Fault-tolerant quantum computation with higher-dimensional systems, Chaos Solit. Fractals 10, 1749 (1999), doi:10.1016/s0960-0779(98)00218-5.
- [57] A. Barenco, C. H. Bennett, R. Cleve, D. P. DiVincenzo, N. Margolus, P. Shor, T. Sleator, J. A. Smolin and H. Weinfurter, *Elementary gates for quantum computation*, Phys. Rev. A 52, 3457 (1995), doi:10.1103/physreva.52.3457.
- [58] P. O.. Boykin, T. Mor, M. Pulver, V. Roychowdhury and F. Vatan, A new universal and fault-tolerant quantum basis, Inf. Process. Lett. 75, 101 (2000), doi:10.1016/S0020-0190(00)00084-3.
- [59] L. Leone, S. F. E. Oliviero and A. Hamma, Nonstabilizerness determining the hardness of direct fidelity estimation, Phys. Rev. A 107, 022429 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.107.022429.